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8 UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

: CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
10
11

LORETTA APODACA, individually | Case No. CV12-5664 DSF (EXx)

12 || and on behalf of all others similarly

situated, FINDINGS OF FACT AND
13 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Plaintiff,
14
V.

15
16 | COSTCO WHOLESALE

CORPORATION and DOE 1 through
and including DOE 100,

17

18 Defendants.

19

20 On October 10, 2013, a jury entered a verdict in favor of Defendant Costco
21

Wholesale Corporation with respect t@iatiff Loretta Apodaca’s claims for unpaid

N
N

overtime in violation of the California Lab&@ode and the Fair Labor Standards Act

N
w

(FLSA), and her claims for failure to proeidhdequate meal periods and rest breaks in

N
I

violation of the California Labor Code. Themaining claims — for failure to provide

N
o1

accurate itemized wage statements inatioh of the California Labor Code, for waiting

N
(0))

time penalties under the California Lalioode, for unfair competition under the

N
~

California Business & Professions Codegdor civil penalties under the Private

N
(00)
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Attorneys General Act (PAGA) — remain for resolution by@woeirt. The Court held a

hearing on these claims on March 10, 20The Court, having heard live testimony and

having duly considered the eviden) the credibility ofthe witnesses, the entire file of th
Court, and the contentions and argumentsooinsel, makes the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law sccordance with Rule 52(aj the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure.

l. FINDINGS OF FACT!

1. Apodaca was employed by Cosfcom 2004 until May 24, 2012.
(Reporter’s Transcript, Oct. 2013 (RT1) 119:7-13; Trial Ex. 153.)

2. Prior to November 2006, Apodaca tked as an Assistant Front End
Manager, receiving an annualaag of $52,500. (See Triéx. 145.) Costco promoted
Apodaca to Bakery Manager in NovemBR€06. (RT1 119:14-120:4.) After her
promotion, her annual salary incredso $62,000. (See Trial Ex. 145.)

3.  As a Bakery Manager, Apodaca wgenerally scheduled to work eight
regular hours and one overtime hper work day. (RT1 185:8-14.)

4.  Apodaca began receiving electronic watgtements as early as May 2011.

(See Trial Ex. 7.) These electronic wagatements could be accessed through the
internet. (See Trial Ex. 1006.) Apodaca was able to eastgss and print her wage
statements. (See March 19, 2013 DepLaretta Apodaca (3/19/13 Apodaca Dep.)

172:16-24, 178:18-179:6.)

'The Court has adopted certain findings of &awll conclusions of law from the proposed
findings and conclusions of both partiesnyAdifferent or additionigoroposed findings or
conclusions were either unsupportedionecessary to the Court’s determination.
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5.  Apodaca’s wage statements list the total regular, overtime, and doubletime

hours Apodaca worked. (See Trial Ex. 7.)eBtatements also list Apodaca’s “total
earnings” and “total net pay.” (See id.)

6. The statements includeline item for “vacation pay/non-exempt salaried
vacation or float overtime.” (Trial Ex.)7.The hours listed in this line item do not
represent hours actually worked. Rather, tlegyesent the eight hours of “vacation pa
and the one hour of “float overtime” Costpmvided for each vatan day taken. (See
Dep. of Katherine Kearney (Kearney Defby14-23, 210:7-14; see also April 12, 2013
Dep. of Loretta Apodac@l/12/13 Apodaca Dep.) 378:12-23.) Even assuming Apoda

was confused by the meaning of the phrasatftivertime,” Costco’&ailure to clarify

this was neither a knowing nor intentionalation of California Labor Code Section
226. Apodaca never asked Costco to glaht meaning of the term, (4/12/13 Apodac
Dep. 378:8-11), and there is no evidence @mdtco was otherwise made aware of any
confusion surrounding the term.
7. Because “vacation pay” and “float atiene” hours are not differentiated or
the wage statement, it is impossible teedmine which of thosbours were compensate

at the regular rate of pagnd which were compensataetithe overtime rate. (See

Kearney Dep. 210:15-211:3.) Costco’s failtmeseparately identify the rates of pay for

“vacation pay” and “float oveirne” was neither a knowing nintentional violation of
California Labor Code Section 226. Thereasevidence showing that Costco was ma
aware of this issue prior tbe initiation of this lawsuit.

8.  Costco demoted Apodaca from her Bakery Manager position to a non-
managerial position in April 2012. (Reper's Transcript, Oct. 9, 2013 (RT2) 125:18-
20.) After her demotion, Apodaca’s compdimadecreased to a rate of $19.72 per hq
(See Trial Ex. 153.)

9. Costco suspended Apodaca on May 11,2 her last day worked. (Trial
Ex. 152.) Apodaca was officially terminated May 24, 2012, and she received her fi
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paycheck at that time. (Trial Ex. 153The final paycheck, which compensated Apod;
for her accrued vacation, reflected Apodacess $19.72 hourly rate of pay. (See id.)

II. CONCLUSIONSOF LAW

A. Cal. Lab. Code § 226

10. California Labor Code Section 226(a) states that “[e]Jvery employer sha
semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages, furnish each of his or her
employees, either as a detachable patti@fcheck, draft, or voucher paying the
employee’s wages, or separately when gaaye paid by personal check or cash, an
accurate itemized statement in writing slmogv. . . (1) gross wges earned, (2) total
hours worked by the employee, . . . (5) net vBaggrned, . . . and (9) all applicable hoy
rates in effect during the pay period and torresponding number of hours worked at
each hourly rate by the employee.”

11. Under California Labor Code senti 226(e), “[a]n employee suffering
injury as a result of a knowing and intemtal failure by an employer to comply with
subdivision (a) is entitled to recoveattual damages or a penalty.

1. Electronic Wage Statements

12. The Court has already ruled, in ggsmmary judgment Order, that the
provision of an electronic wage statementien of a paper statement violates Section
226(a) only if Apodaca could not “easily assdhe wage statements and easily conve
the statements into hard copieg¢Docket No. 30, 1@9/12 Order, at 4.)

13. The only argument Apodaca advances wapect to this issue is that she
could not print her wage statement from thepkyee break room computer, as that ro
lacked a printer. (See Pl.’s Proposed Figdiof Fact and Conclusions of Law (Pl.’s
Proposed FFCL) § 18.) But the evidence cited in support of this proposition directly
contradicts it. (See Harrisdol. in Support of Pl.’s FFCLEX. 2, Dep. of Elayne
Elizabeth Bastian 40:3-4 (stating that thera @inter in the break room that can be ug

for Costco business).) Moreover, Apodaca hétsstified that she was able to view he
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wage statements online, that she printesitlirom her home compert, and that she was
able to print them from the computer irethreak room. (3/19/18podaca Dep. 172:16-
24,178:18-179:6.)

14. Because Apodaca could easily accessnage statements, the provision of
electronic wage statements did not violate Section 226(a).

2. FailuretoList Total HoursWorked

15. Apodaca contends that the line item feacation pay/non-exempt salaried
vacation or float overtime” coained in her wage statementslates the requirement that
wage statements list the employee’s “total somorked.” Cal. LabCode § 226(a)(2).

16. In denying Costco’s motion for summgondgment as to this claim, the
Court stated that Costco violated SextP26(a)(2) by failing tadlifferentiate between
“hours of float overtime worked with hagiof vacation taken by the employee.”
(10/29/12 Order, at 5.) The Court reasotied, although the wage statements accurately
listed the total regular, overtenand double-time hours workede statements’ failure tp
list the float overtime hours worked in its own category made it impossible for Apodaca

to calculate the total number lbbburs worked. (See id.)

(D

17. The Court’s conclusion, however, wamised on the assumption that th
phrase “float overtime” referred to overtime hours actually worked. Costco has
submitted evidence — obtained after the €swummary judgment Order — making clear
that “float overtime” does not refer to hauwvorked, but to overtime compensation for
vacation days taken. (SEearney Dep. 65:14-23, 21014, see also 4/12/13 Apodaca
Dep. 378:12-23.) Apodaca has offered no evidence to the contrary.

18. Apodaca contends, however, that sfss confused about the meaning of
“float overtime” and therefore could nottdemine from her wagstatements her total
hours worked. (4/12/13 Apodaca Dep. 378:1But even assuming this is true, and

assuming that the ambiguity of this tecwuld constitute a violation of Section
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226(a)(2)* Apodaca nonetheless cannot establist tite violation was a “knowing and
intentional failure . . . to comply with [Sion 226(a)].” Cal. LabCode § 226(e)(1).
Where an employer has a good faith belief thigtnot in violation of Section 226, any
violation is not knowing and intentional. See Wright v. Adventures Rolling Cross
Country, Inc., No. C-12-0982 EMC, 2013 WI[Z58815, at *9 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2013);
Ricaldai v. U.S. Investigations ServisL,C, 878 F. Supp. 2d38, 1047 (C.D. Cal.

2012). Here, there is no evidence thast€o was made aware of any confusion

surrounding the term “float oveme.” Indeed, Apodaca tefed that she never even
asked her employer what the term mega{12/13 Apodaca Dep. 378:8-11.) Apodaca
points to testimony by Katherine Kearney, Co& Assistant Vice President for payrol
and benefit accounting, regarding the lack of a written explanation as to what “float
overtime” referred to. (SeKearney Dep. 56:6-57:7.But absent evidence of confusign
over the term, there would be no reason for Gost define it. Apodaca also points to
documents from previous wage and hour laitgsagainst Costco that purportedly put

them on notice of their violations. (See Docket 18, Exs. 3, 5; Trial Ex. 82.) But even
if these documents are admissible — which Codisputes — none of them refers to “float
overtime.” Because this issue was not evéesedhin these prior lawsuits, Costco could
not have been put on notice of it. FinaWypodaca cites testimony from Kearney that

Costco changed its wage statetseas a result of this lawsdit(See Pl.’s Proposed

FFCL 5-7.) But Costco’s willingness to correct a potential error does not suggest that tr

error was made knowingly andt@mtionally. Rather, it suggests just the opposite — that
the violation (if it was a violation) was urientional and that Costco rectified it once

Costco became aware of it.

2 Whether an employee can “promptly and eas#ltermine from the waggtatement” the total
number of hours worked appearsly relevant to whether the @toyee suffered an injury under
this Section, not whether a violation oo®d. See Cal. Lab. Code § 226(e)(2)(B).

® In fact, whether such a defiion was available to emplogs is unclear from the cited
testimony. (See id.)
* Costco also disputes themaigsibility of this testimony.
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19. Therefore, because Apodaca has mtedithe Court with no basis to
conclude that any violation of Sectiod26(a)(2) was “knowingrad intentional,” this
claim must also fail.

3. FailuretoList Grossand Net Wages

20. In her Proposed Findings of FactteConclusions of law, Apodaca contends

that, due to the nature of the “vacatymay/non-exempt salaried vacation or float
overtime” line item, the wage statement dat list the “gross wages earned” and “net

wages earned” as required $gction 226(a)(1) and (a)(5). But the wage statements

clearly list “total earnings” and “total net payhius complying with Section 226(a). (Sé

Ex. 7.) The failure to diffeentiate vacation pay from “f&d overtime” has no bearing on
this issue.
4, Failureto Specify Rates of Pay

21. Apodaca also argues that the “vacat@ay/non-exempt salaried vacation ¢
float overtime” line item violates Secti@26(a)(9), which requires that each wage
statement list all applicable hourly rateslahe corresponding hours worked at each r
This claim has merit. Adiscussed above, this line iteepresents the eight hours of
regular pay and one hour of overtime paynpensated for each vacation day taken.
Because these hours are aggted, it is impossible to tell which hours were
compensated at the overtimeéesaand which were compened at the regular rate.
Kearney conceded as much, testifying thmt this pay stub you auldn’t be able to
determine the hourly rate becautskas a blend right in théine of vacation hours that
are paid in straight pay and then the addgi hour that’s paid for vacation or float at
overtime rate.” (Karney Dep. 210:18-23.)

22. However, Apodaca has not establishedt this violation was “knowing and
intentional” violation of Section 226. Cal. haCode § 226(e)(1)Again, Apodaca cites
only to prior cases in which this error does appear to have beeaised, (see Trial Ex.
82, Docket No. 18, Exs.3, 5), and to testiy about subsequent remedial measures tf

have no bearing on Costco’s prior intent, (see Pl.’s Proposed FFCL 5-7).
7
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B. Cal.Lab. Code § 203

23. Apodaca seeks continuing wages under California Labor Code Section
That provision allows an employee to recosech wages “[i]f aremployer willfully
fails to pay, without abatemear reduction, in accordancattv[certain procedures], an\
wages of an employee who is discharged/o quits.” Among those procedures are
Section 201(a), which requires that, “[i]f amployer discharges an employee, the wa

earned and unpaid at the time of diggesare due and payle immediately.”

To the extent Apodaca’s Section 203 claim snpised on Costco’s failure to adequately

compensate Apodaca for overtime pay and raedlrest breaks, it is precluded by the
jury’s verdict. _See Miller v. Fairchild Hus., Inc., 885 F.2d 498, 507 (9th Cir. 1989)

(“[T]he Seventh Amendment requires theltjiadge to follow the jury’s implicit or

explicit factual determinations. . .”). Indeed, in suppodf her arguments with respect
to these issues, Apodaca citgy to evidence that was alrgapresented to the jury at
trial.

24. Apodaca further argues that Costco violated Section 203 by providing |
with her final paycheck twaveeks late. This claim laskmerit. The parties do not
dispute that Apodaca’s last day workeds May 10, 2012, when she was suspended
from work, (see Trial Ex. 152), and that Aama received her final paycheck when sh
was officially terminated on May 24, 2012ge id., Trial Ex153). According to
Apodaca, her May 10 suspensubaite constituted her “disclug,” and therefore she wa
owed her final paycheck atghtime. Apodaca cites todlDivision of Labor Standards
Enforcement Policies and Integtations Manual (DSLE Manualvhich states that “[i]f
an employee is laid off without a specifitus date within the normal pay period, the
wages earned up to and inclaglithe lay off date are due apdyable in accordance witl
Section 201.” DSLE Manual § 3.2.2. Apodacgues that she had been discharged ¢
her May 10 suspension date besmshe was not given a retwate at that time. In

support of this argument, she cites tooéder case in the unengyment context stating
8
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that “appellants had been indefinitely laifi [because] there was no definite date of
recall.” Campos v. Emp’t Dev. Dep’t, 1&2al. App. 3d 961, 968 (1982). But that cast

concerned seasonal workers who “had beerfimtey laid off for varying periods of

time.” Id. at 965. Apodaca was suspend@dayoff is a completely different
employment action. It cannot be the case dvery time an employee is suspended
without being provided a conde=date for the end of thespension, she is immediately,
due a final paycheck evenfbee a final termination desion. Construing the term
“discharge” to be equivalent to a suspensiotoistrary to the term’s plain meaning. It
would also produce the absurd resulpcgcluding employers from investigating and
carefully considering a potential termination without either (1) immediately paying t
employee a final paycheck — even if the eogpl ultimately decides against terminatio
or (2) allowing the (potentially troublesome) employee to continue to work during th
investigation. Here, Apata has provided the Court with no evidence showing that
Costco made a decision tsdnarge her before March 2012, when she received her
final paycheck. Therefore, her Sect@®B cannot rest on the timing of her final

paycheck.

25. Apodaca also bases her Section 203wlan allegations that she was neve

paid for work she completed on May 8 dldy 10, 2012, and that she was not paid hg
vested vacation pay at the proper rate.

26. With respect to the alleged unpawdrk for May 8 and 10, Apodaca has
failed to meet her burden. @&lonly evidence she offers inpgport of this are documents
showing her hours worked and her final paychao# wage statemen{See Trial Exs. 7,
19, 153.) But because the paycheckwaade statement do not break down the hours
worked by day, it is impossible for ti@ourt to determingvhether Apodaca was
compensated for these hours worked.

27. With respect to the vacation payp@daca contends that she should have
been paid at a rate of $25.24 per hour,eathan $19.72 per hour. The $19.72 rate w

result of Apodaca’s demotion from her Bak Manager position to a non-managerial
9
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position several weeks before she was teateith. (See RT2 125:18-20; Trial Ex. 153.
Apodaca argues that her rate of pay should have been $2bi28,was her rate of pay
before she was promoted to Bakery Mamag&ee Trial Ex. 145.) In support of her
argument, she cites to a provision of thestCo Employee Agreement regarding “Pay 4
Classification Following a Demotion.” (&l Ex. 8, at 23.) It states that
“Supervisors/Salaried Employees” who are deaddreturn to the pascale [they] were
on before [their] promotion.” (1§l Apodaca’s assertion, theoe¢, may have some mer
But Apodaca has not established her entitlement to this higher rate of vacation pay
preponderance of the evidence. Althoughptavision states that the demoted employ
returns to the “pay scale” preceding the potion, the actual “pay rate” is determined
based on an hours formula that is less than ci&ee id.) It is alsanclear whether this
provision applies to the rate of vacatiosty. Because Apodatas not provided the
Court with any other evidence or testimony on this issue aside from the ambiguous

provision itself’ she has failed to meber burden of proof.
C. 817200 Unfair Competition

28. In her Section 17200 claim, Apodaseeks to relitigate issues already

decided by the jury. Indeed, the vast majooityhe evidence Apodaca cites in support

this claim was presented to the jir{See Pl.’s Proposed FFCL 9 36-105.)

29. Apodaca premises her claim on Costaleged failure to provide her
adequate meal breaks and rest periods, dsawés alleged failuréo pay her earned
overtime. By its verdict, the jury found @ostco’s favor with respect to each of these

three claims. And although the statutdimitations for a Labor Code or FLSA claim

> Costco cites to deposition testimony on therjoretation of this provision, but that testimon
is unclear as well. _(See Dep. of Joni Hamg&h:25-253:22; Dep. dElayne Bastian 134:16-
135:21.)

® Apodaca puts forward a new argument that Céstest periods were “facially illegal,” (Pl.’s
Proposed FFCL { 56), but thosdipies were admitted at trial aride jury nonethless found in
Costco’s favor with respect todlalleged “failure to provide rebteaks,” (Docket No. 244, Jur

Verdict). 10
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action is one year shorter thtrat for a Section 17200 claihthe jury’s determination
was not temporally limited. In contrastttee damages questions — which asked the jury
to determine damages “after October 28, 20 liability questions merely asked, for
example, “On the claim for unpaid overtime, do you find in favor of Ms. Apodaca or
Costco?” (Docket No. 244, Jury VerdictNor was the evidence at trial limited to
conduct after October 28, 2009; this is mald&ar by Apodaca’s failure to cite evidence
in support of her Section 17200 claim othH&an that which was submitted at trial.
30. “[lJn a case where legal claims are tried by a jury and equitable claims are
tried by a judge, and the claims are basethersame facts, in deciding the equitable
claims the Seventh Amendment requires tlaé jmdge to follow the jury’s implicit or
explicit factual determinatioris Los Angeles Police Prettive League v. Gates, 995
F.2d 1469, 1473 (9th Cit993) (citation and quotatianarks omitted). Apodaca

contends that “a judge can always set asigeyaverdict . . . if it is irrational.” (Pl.’s

Proposed FFCL , at 45.) But Apodaca did nowveto set aside the jury verdict, nor
would such a motion have been meritorious.

31. Because the Court is bound by the janerdict, Apodaca’s Section 17200

P ==~

claim cannot succeed. &mesult would be the same evkthe Court were not so boundl.
D. PAGA

32. Apodaca’s request for PAGA penaltiepremised exclusively on the aboye

unsuccessful claims. Therefore, Apodaa&quest for PAGA penalties is denied.

" The limitations period for a Labor Code or FLSAioh is, at most, threesqars. Cal. Code Civ.
Proc. § 338; 29 U.S.C. § 255(a)he limitations period for a UCL claim is four years. Cal.

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17208. 1
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I11.  CONCLUSION

33. Costco is entitled to judgment in its faweith respect tolaclaims. Costco

IS to submit a proposed judgment.

DATED:

6/5/14

DaeS. Fischer
UnitedStatedistrict Judge
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